
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 19th May, 2015

1.00 pm

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone





AGENDA

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 19th May, 2015, at 1.00 pm Ask for: Joel Cook
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone: 03000 416892

Membership 

Conservative (6): Mr R J Parry (Chairman), Mr J E Scholes (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr E E C Hotson, Mr A J King, MBE, Mr L B Ridings, MBE and 
Mrs P A V Stockell

UKIP (2) Mr H Birkby and Mr R A Latchford, OBE

Labour (2)  Mr G Cowan and Mr R Truelove

Liberal Democrat (1): Mrs T Dean, MBE

Church 
Representatives (3):

Mr D Brunning, Mr Q Roper and Mr A Tear

Parent Governor (2): Mr P Garten and Mr G Lawrie

Tea/coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting

County Councillors who are not Members of the Committee but who wish to ask questions 
at the meeting are asked to notify the Chairman of their questions in advance.

Webcasting Notice

Please note:  this meeting may be filmed for the live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council’s internet site or by any member of the public or press present.   The Chairman will 
confirm if all or part of the meeting is to be filmed by the Council

By entering into this room you are consenting to being filmed.  If you do not wish to have 
your image captured please let the Clerk know immediately.
.



UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

A - Committee Business
A1 Introduction/Webcast Announcement 

A2 Substitutes 

A3 Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this Meeting 

A4 Minutes of the meeting held on 4th of February 2015 (Crime & Disorder 
Committee) (Pages 5 - 8)

B - Any items called-in
C - Any items placed on the agenda by any Member of the Council for 
discussion

C1 Street Lighting Review (Pages 9 - 78)

EXEMPT APPENDICES
By Virtue of the paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972

Street Lighting Review – Exempt Appendices (Pages 79 – 92)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Monday, 11 May 2015

Timing of items as shown above is approximate and subject to change.



1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held in the Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 4 February 2015.

PRESENT: Mr R J Parry (Chairman), Mr J E Scholes (Vice-Chairman), Mr H Birkby, 
Mr G Cowan, Mrs T Dean, MBE, Mr E E C Hotson, Mr A J King, MBE, 
Mr R A Latchford, OBE, Mr R A Marsh and Mr R Truelove

ALSO PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE, Supt  L Russell and Mr S Bone-Knell

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr S Beaumont (Head of Community Safety and Emergency 
Planning), Ms D Fitch (Democratic Services Manager (Council)) and Mr J Cook 
(Scrutiny Research Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

74. Community Safety Agreement 2014 - 17 
(Item A4)

1. The Chairman welcomed Members of the Committee and the guests to this 
meeting of the Crime and Disorder Committee.

2. Mr Hill introduced the Community Safety Agreement, giving a brief overview of 
the history of the Kent Community Safety Partnership (KCSP).  He explained that the 
Safe and Stronger Communities programme run in Kent, had been set up by the then 
Chief Constable of Kent Police David Phillips and KCC Chief Executive Mike Pitt. 
This was used as a model nationally to shape the development of top tier Community 
Safety Partnerships, which meant that Kent was in an excellent position when they 
were formally introduced in 2006.

3. Mr Hill explained that the KCSP was made up of the six responsible authorities 
who also provided the principle funding for community safety activity in Kent.  Kent 
Police, District & Borough Councils, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), Kent 
Fire & Rescue Service and Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation 
Company now all had a statutory responsibility to co-operate and develop joint plans 
to tackle shared priorities.

4. Mr Beaumont, Head of Community Safety and Emergency Planning, delivered 
a detailed presentation on the Community Safety Agreement.

5. Key points made by Mr Beaumont included;
 The main achievements of 2014 had been the development of an anti-

social behaviour (ASB) strategy linked with THEMIS, an ASB case 
management system.  The latter assisting in sharing case information 
with other authorities and agencies to improve joint working as well has 
charting issues relating to repeat victims such as vulnerabilities that 
impact on their risk assessment.

Page 5

Agenda Item A4



2

 The implementation of the Community Trigger process which required  
the relevant agencies in the CSP to respond when three complaints 
were received from a victim of ASB.

 Progress on the Domestic Abuse priority such as the development of 
the Kent Domestic Abuse website which signposted professionals and 
victims to appropriate services.

 Funding for Independent Domestic Violence Advisors had been 
continued through a specific funding stream through the CSP using a 
Charity Cartel.  This had allowed continued use of this excellent 
resource.

 Since 2013, there had been 13 Domestic Homicide Reviews in Kent.  
The learning outcomes from these had continued to contribute toward 
developing better systems to preventing domestic homicides.

6. Supt. Russell, Head of Partnerships and Communities for Kent Police, 
commented on the Community Safety Agreement Action Plan in that so far the 
Community Trigger had only been activated twice in Kent.  This evidenced that there 
was already a good system in place for responding to ASB complaints.

7. Supt. Russell commented that as 20% of callers to the police were responsible 
for 50% of the total call volume, it was important to focus resources on the root 
causes of the ASB and implement preventative measures that would provide long 
term resolution to the repeat victims.

8. Mr Bone-Knell, Operations Director of Kent Fire and Rescue Service (KFRS), 
provided some background on the work of the Kent Joint Community Safety Team.  
He gave updates on various areas of Community Safety work such as; 

 The excellent partnership work undertaken by the Kent Resilience 
Team which drew together emergency planning activity from all the key 
partners.

 The unfortunate increase in incidents of people being killed or seriously 
injured (KSI) on Kent’s roads – up from 601 to 619 equating to 3% 
increase since 2013.  This issue had been recognised and work was in 
progress to address the matter.

 The continued positive response to the License to Kill educational tool.

9. Mr Hill drew attention to the improvements in how the partner agencies 
responded to domestic abuse were very positive and that the increase in reporting 
was a positive development as it showed there was growing confidence in the 
system.  Additionally, he drew attention to the improvements made to early 
identification and management of mental health issues were expected to reduce the 
risk of domestic abuse and violent crime in the long term.

10. Supt. Russell explained that E-safety was being addressed through a 
programme of workshops being rolled out across the county at both primary and 
secondary school level.

11. Supt Russell also noted that the Mental Health Concordat marked further joint 
work being undertaken to ensure people with mental health issues were managed 
properly, reducing pressure of Police resources.

Page 6



3

12. Members asked several questions, Mr Beaumont, Mr Hill, Supt Russell and Mr 
Bone-Knell responded as follows;

 Clarifying how Legal Highs were being addressed, Supt Russell 
explained that the term was being challenged as the term “legal”, 
combined with the accessibility of the substances created a false sense 
of acceptability and safety.  This was concerning as Kent had the 
highest concentration of sellers outside London.  Work was ongoing 
with Kent Trading Standards but it remained challenging as product 
sellers and manufacturers  could manoeuvre around bans or sanctions.  
Kent Police was lobbying for national guidance to improve their capacity 
to respond to the issue.

 In terms of continued financial challenge on resources, all guests 
agreed that the pressures were intense but that joint working and 
collaboration were proving to be the best methods of continuing to 
provide a good service.  The focus on maintaining frontline services 
across Kent has been continued across all the agencies.

 Mr Beaumont clarified that the Community Safety Agreement was a 
forward looking document.  It focused on the plans for the future and 
what strategic action would be taken rather than a review of past 
performance of the KCSP. The annual strategic assessments that 
contributed to the document did consider the progress made previously 
on the key priorities.

 To allow for better scrutiny of performance in future, representatives of 
the KCSP agreed to provide the relevant performance data to the 
Committee and to include it in future Crime and Disorder Papers.

 All partners indicated their support for the plan to roll out defibrillators 
as widely as possible.  Examples of increased availability included 
equipping all KFRS and Police Response vehicles to support medical 
emergency situations.  Additionally, the KCSP supported bids for other 
agencies and authorities to purchase defibrillators.  Agreement was 
given by the partners to liaise with the Kent Association of Local 
Councils to progress this further.

 Supt. Russell clarified the use of Community Justice in that Restorative 
Practice was commonly used when dealing with young offenders, in the 
interest of limiting the criminalisation of young people.  Additionally, the 
local panels such as the Thanet Neighbourhood Response Panel, 
discussed local action and sought to publicise the success as the view 
the justice needed to be seen to be effective was appreciated by the 
partners.

 Supt. Russell explained that human trafficking was being addressed as 
a priority by the Serious Crime Directorate and that while operational 
security prevented detailed discussion, further information could be 
provided to the Committee.

 Members were advised that the local CSPs (Community Safety 
Partnerships) were scrutinised at District level by the District / Borough 
Council Scrutiny Committees.  All the CSPs worked slightly differently 
as they had varied demographics and circumstances.  The Kent CSP 
provided the strategic overview and direction and was able to direct 
additional resources to areas of increased need.

Page 7



4

A Member commented that Mr Beaumont was retiring from KCC. The  Committee 
referred to his his excellent service, recorded their thanks to him and wished him well 
on his retirement.

RESOLVED that the Committee note the Community Safety Agreement; that the 
Community Safety Team and partner agencies give consideration to the comments 
made by the Committee and that they provide performance data relevant to the 
delivery of the CSA priorities as part of the next annual report to the Committee.

Page 8



By: Peter Sass – Head of Democratic Services

To: Scrutiny Committee – 19 May 2015

Subject: Street Lighting Review – Discussion Item

Summary: This report provides brief background information relating to the 
decision to adopt the Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010, the 
subsequent implementation of Safe and Sensible Street Lighting 
and the internal review conducted at the request of the Leader of 
the Council.

Full details of the processes used in the development and 
implementation of the Council’s Street Lighting Policy are 
contained in the main paper – ‘Review of the adoption and 
implementation of the Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010’.

1. Background

1.1 The Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010 (the Strategy) was 
endorsed by Cabinet Committee in May 2010, followed by a formal 
Cabinet Member decision in November 2010 to adopt the Strategy.  The 
specific proposals contained with the Strategy were refined and then 
endorsed by Cabinet Committee in 2011 via ‘Common Sense Plan for 
Safe and Sensible Street Lighting’ report, the details of which formed the 
basis of the consultation on and implementation of SSSL in 2013.

1.2 In February 2015, following discussion between all the Group Leaders, 
the Leader of the Council commissioned a review of the adoption and 
implementation of the Strategy.

2. Documentation

2.1 The ‘Review of the adoption and implementation of the Street Lighting 
Policy and Strategy 2010’ forms the single substantive document under 
consideration (Appendix B)

2.2 The key areas of consideration outlined in the Terms of Reference 
(Appendix A) for the Review are as follows:

 The appropriateness and validity of processes and procedures 
adopted during the Policy adoption process, and the subsequent 
implementation of the Policy.

 The procedural steps leading up to the Cabinet and Officer level 
decisions, notably the adequacy of the Equality Impact 
Assessments (EqIA), consultation and use of the Executive 
Scheme of Officer Delegation.

 The sufficiency of information provided to the Leader and 
Members on the detailed proposals.

 Partner agency consultation responses.

Page 9

Agenda Item C1



 The impact of the Strategy.
 The procedural steps taken by other authorities that have 

implemented similar policies.
 The Impact of similar policies in other authorities.
 The Specific criteria that should be used in considering whether to 

amend any aspect of the Policy Implementation.

3. Attendance

3.1 The following Members, Partner agency representatives and Council 
Officers will be attending the meeting to answer the Committee’s 
questions:

 Mr Simmonds – Deputy Leader of the Council
 Mr Balfour – Current Responsible Cabinet Member
 Mr Brazier – Previous Responsible Cabinet Member
 Mr Sweetland – Previous Responsible Cabinet Member
 Mr Chard – Previous Responsible Cabinet Member
 Assistant Chief Constable Rob Price – Kent Police lead on Local 

Policing and Partnerships)
 Barbara Cooper – Current responsible Corporate Director
 John Burr – Previous responsible Director
 Roger Wilkin – Review report author
 Geoff Wild – Review report author

4. Discussion plan

4.1 To allow for the most effective debate on this issue, the recommended 
approach is as follows;

I. Kent Police update from Assistant Chief Constable Rob Price.
II. Introduction and explanation of the Review report by its authors; 

Geoff Wild and Roger Wilkin.
III. Committee Members invited to raise points of clarification with the 

Review authors.
IV. Meeting opened to questions from and debate amongst 

Committee Members.
V. Chairman to summarise identified issues and to seek consensus 

on the Committee’s decision to comment or make 
recommendations

5. Recommendation

5.1 The Committee will consider the Review and may decide to express 
comments and make recommendations to the relevant Officer, Cabinet 
Member, Leader or Full Council.

Page 10



6. Contact details

Report Author: Relevant Director:
Joel Cook - Scrutiny Research Officer Geoff Wild
03000 416892 03000 416840
Joel.cook@kent.gov.uk Geoff.wild@kent.gov.uk

7. Appendices

 Appendix A - Terms of Reference for the Review
 Appendix B - Review of the adoption and implementation of the 

Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010.

8. Background documents

 A Common Sense Plan for Safe and Sensible Street Lighting.
 The Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010.

Page 11

mailto:Joel.cook@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Geoff.wild@kent.gov.uk
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s27706/Item%20C5%20-%20Streetlighting.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s11447/Item%20B3%20-%20Appendix%202.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Review of the adoption and implementation of the Safe and Sensible 
Street Lighting Policy 

 
Terms of Reference 

 

 

1.   Why and for whom the review is being done 

 This review is made at the request of the Leader, following his discussions 
with the other political group leaders, all of whom have raised questions and 
concerns regarding the introduction and implementation of the Street 
Lighting Strategy and Policy.  

 The review will consider the appropriateness and validity of processes and 
procedures adopted in during both the Policy adoption process, and the 
subsequent implementation of the Policy. 

 The review will consult with key officers and Members involved in creating 
and executing the strategy, with a view to evaluating not only past actions 
and events, but also recommending steps to be taken both now and in the 
future, and to address the lessons learnt. 

 The review process will be considered to be confidential in nature. 

 The output of the review will be a report that will be discussed in confidence 
by the political group leaders (possibly as part of the work of the Scrutiny 
Committee), with a view to producing a summary of conclusions and 
recommendations suitable for publication. 

 Primary intended users of the detailed review are the political group leaders. 
The published conclusions and recommendations are intended to be of 
wider public interest. 

 
2.   Key areas for consideration 

 The procedural steps leading up to the Cabinet Member decision to adopt 
the Safe and Sensible Street Lighting Strategy and Policy in 2010, notably 
the adequacy of the consultation and the absence of an equalities impact 
assessment (EqIA). 

 The procedural steps leading up to the Officer decision to implement the 
Safe and Sensible Street Lighting Strategy and Policy in 2012, notably the 
adequacy of the EqIA, the sufficiency of the consultation process, and the 
appropriateness of the use of the Executive Scheme of Officer Delegation. 

 The sufficiency of information provided to the Leader and other Members 
on the detailed proposals to switch off, dim or remove street lighting in 
various parts of Kent. 

 The responses given by key consultees, including Kent Police, to the 
various consultations and how that was interpreted and communicated to 
the Cabinet Member, to other Members and to the public. 

 What the impact has been of the implementation of the Safe and Sensible 
Street Lighting Strategy and Policy, crime figures in Kent. 

 The procedural steps taken by other authorities who have implemented 
similar policies and by KCC in the adoption and implementation of other 
policies of similar scope and risk profile. 

 The impact of similar policies, including upon crime figures, in other parts of 
the country. 

 The specific criteria that should be used in considering whether to amend 
any aspect of the Policy implementation. 
 

 
3.   How it will be accomplished 

Page 13



 The overall scope and approach will be to gather and summarise the key 
actions and events, through consideration of the documents and records 
and in discussion with key individuals involved. 

 The findings should be collated into a concise factual summary, identifying 
at each stage of the process any positive and negative features of the 
actions taken, with particular attention to separating conclusions and 
recommendations into sections that can be shared in either a confidential or 
public arena. 

 
4.   Structure of the review  

 Accountabilities, roles and responsibilities, including process for signing off 
on the evaluation and report: 

o Geoff Wild, Director Governance & Law will oversee the review and 
along with David Cockburn, Head of Paid Service and Barbara 
Cooper, Corporate Director Growth, Environment & Transport, will 
act as the review sponsor and will be responsible for reviewing the 
draft report 

o Roger Wilkin, Head of Waste Management will act as the reviewing 
officer. He will carry out the review, and will be responsible for 
examining, assessing and collating the detailed information and 
drawing up an initial draft report 

o Geoff  Wild will submit the draft report to the Leader for final 
endorsement prior to it being distributed to the other group leaders 

 Geoff Wild will arrange for a confidential meeting of the group leaders as a 
formal part of the Scrutiny Committee process in order to discuss the report 
and agree a set of public conclusions and recommendations. 

 
5.   Milestones, deliverables and timelines 

 It is anticipated that the first draft of the report should be available by 13 
March 

 It is anticipated that the final draft report should be submitted to the Leader 
by 20 March 

 The group leaders’ meeting should take place before 31 March 
 
6.   What resources are available to conduct the evaluation  

 Roger Wilkin will draw upon support from within the GET Directorate to 
provide assistance and administrative support for the review. 

 Existing data from a number of sources will be utilised in order to assist the 
evaluation the quality of relevant processes. 

 Relevant officers and elected Members will be asked to contribute their 
knowledge in order to facilitate the review. 

 New data will be elicited in order to assess the impact to date of the 
implementation of the Policy. 

 

 

Page 14



0 
 

 

Review of the adoption and implementation of 
the Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Roger Wilkin 
Interim Director of Highways, 
Transformation and Waste  

Geoff Wild 
Director of Governance & Law 

 

 
March 2015 

 

 

 

  

Page 15



1 
 

Contents 

1. Purpose of the Review      2 
 

2. Background        2 
 

3. Consultation and Engagement     3 
 

4. Equalities Issues       5 
 

5. Governance        6 
 

6. Impact of the Scheme       7 
 

7. Reversal of Part-Night Lighting     7 
 

8. Implications of LED Street Lighting     9 
 

9. Summary        9 
 

 
Appendices 

A. Key JTB dates at Policy implementation phase   11 

B. Joint Transportation Boards- Summary of Comments  12 

C. Local Authority Consultation Approaches    19 

D. (i) Street Lighting Policy EqIA - Initial Draft with Amends  23 

(ii) Street Lighting Policy EqIA- Final      33 

E. Street Lighting Policy Review- Dover District Council  43 

F. (i) Street Lighting Strategy- Kent Police Consultation Response 

September 2013       55 

(ii) Street Lighting Strategy- Kent Police Consultation Response 

June 2014        57 

G. Street Lighting Policy- Exclusion Criteria    58 

H. Street Lighting Policy Reversal Requests (As approved by  

Cabinet Member, David Brazier)     59 

I. Exempt Appendices (Legally privileged) 

(i) Summary of advice prior to Policy implementation- July 2012  

(ii) Summary of advice prior to Policy implementation-Legal   

Page 16



2 
 

Purpose of the review 
 
This review has been carried out at the request of the Leader of the Council, following 
his discussions with the other political group leaders, all of whom have raised questions 
and concerns regarding the introduction and subsequent implementation of the Street 
Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010 (the Strategy). 
 
The review considers the appropriateness and validity of processes and procedures 
adopted during both the Strategy adoption process, and its subsequent 
implementation. During the review, relevant officers and Members who were involved 
in creating and executing the Strategy were consulted, in order to evaluate not only 
past actions and events, but also to enable the recommendation of steps to be taken to 
address the lessons learnt. 
 
The primary intended users of this review report are the political group leaders of Kent 
County Council.  
 
 
Background 
 
On 25 May 2010, a report entitled ‘Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010’1, was 
presented to the Environment, Highways and Waste Policy Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (POSC) by Mr Nick Chard, the then Cabinet Member for Environment 
Highways & Waste. Amongst other activities, the report set out a process for assessing 

all currently lit streets in order to determine whether “the same lighting level is 
required for the street all night and consider if de-illumination; part night lighting; 
light dimming or switch off and removal of certain units is appropriate”. Appendix B 
of the Strategy sets out criteria for assessing lighting needs of individual streets

2
. 

The strategy did not set out any specific timescale for the implementation of any 
potential changes in street lighting arrangements, nor the costs associated with 
their implementation.  
 
The minute to this meeting3 records that the POSC resolved that “the adoption of the 
Policy and Strategy for Street Lighting be supported and recommended to the Cabinet 
Member for adoption”. 
 
On 19 November 2010, Mr Chard took a Cabinet Member decision4 to adopt the 
Strategy, as recommended by POSC.  
 
On 22 November 2011, Mr Bryan Sweetland, the then Cabinet Member for 
Environment Highways & Waste took a further report to POSC, entitled ’A Common 
Sense Plan for Safe and Sensible Street Lighting’5. This report outlined specific 
proposals to give effect to the previous Cabinet Member decision. These proposals 
included introducing part-night lighting on both minor (including residential) roads and 
high speed roads, and the permanent disconnection and removal of 5,000 streetlights 
on main routes. No detail concerning timescales or the cost of implementation of the 
proposals were set out in the report.  Amongst other things, the report stated: 
 

“Where streetlights have been dimmed or switched off, data shows that crashes 
and crime have not increased. There is a clear difference between perception 

                                                           
1
 Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010 

2
 Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010- Appendix B 

3
 Environment Highways and Waste POSC Minutes- 25th May 2010 

4
 Cabinet Member Decision- Street Lighting Policy Adoption- 19th Nov 2010 

5
 Report- ’A Common Sense Plan for Safe and Sensible Street Lighting' 

Page 17

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s11445/Item%20B3%20-%20Street%20Lighting%20Paper.pdf
http://kent590w3:9070/documents/s11447/Item%20B3%20-%20Appendix%202.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/g3329/Printed%20minutes%2025th-May-2010%2010.00%20Environment%20Highways%20and%20Waste%20Policy%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20C.pdf?T=1
http://kent590w3:9070/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=12062&Opt=0
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s27706/Item%20C5%20-%20Streetlighting.pdf


3 
 

and actual data. It is the design of lighting schemes, rather than the number or 
hours of illumination that is most important. Kent County Council’s aim is to 
target the wasted lights and energy…To overcome the negative perception, it is 
vital that we address this by involving residents in discussions about what 
makes some people feel they are less safe.” 

 
During debate Mr Sweetland stated that an exception list would be drawn up of 
locations, street by street, detailing lights to be switched off. 
 
POSC resolved6 that:  
 

(a) the specific proposals outlined above, to introduce a common sense 
approach to safe and sensible management/operation of street lighting, be 
endorsed with some Members suggesting the proposals could go further; 
and 

 
(b) the report and relevant draft minute be circulated to the next round of JTBs 

(Joint Transportation Boards) for discussion and feedback.  
 
The proposal to implement the Safe and Sensible Street Lighting Policy (the Policy) 
was embedded into the Divisional Business Plan for Highways and Transportation 
(H&T) in 2012-13 and 2013-14. These business plans were approved by the Cabinet 
Member following discussion by the relevant Cabinet Committee. At the time, the 
prevailing view across Kent County Council was that where a policy had received 
Cabinet Member approval, decisions associated with its implementation could be 
carried out under officer delegation where the relevant costs were itemised in the 
approved budget of the Council, and where it was a commitment set out in the 
approved Business Plan.  
 
On this basis, the decisions relating to the implementation of the Safe and Sensible 
Street Lighting Policy were carried out under officer delegation by Mike Austerberry, 
the then Corporate Director for Enterprise and Environment. 
 
 
Consultation & Engagement 
 
No consultation activities are evident prior to the decision to approve the Strategy, 
although the Strategy document does refer to the need for full consultation with the 
emergency services and with community representatives prior to implementation. The 
report to POSC in November 2011 also highlights the need to engage local residents in 
dialogue concerning the community safety aspects of policy implementation. 
 
Officers did retrospectively seek legal and other advice on the issue of consultation 
prior to the implementation phase of the Policy. This advice is summarised at 
Appendix A (i-ii). 
 
Whilst there was concern expressed about the absence of such activities prior to the 
policy being approved, the general thrust of expert opinion appears to have been that a 
robust process of consultation and equality impact assessment prior to implementation 
would provide significant mitigation against the risk of challenge. 
 
Joint Transportation Boards (JTBs) exist for each of the 12 districts of Kent, and 
include KCC members for relevant divisions, representative members of the relevant 
district council, and a representative of parish and town councils.  A report concerning 
the proposal to implement the approach set out in the POSC report of November 2011 

                                                           
6
 Environment Highways and Waste POSC Minutes- 22 Nov 2011 

Page 18

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/g3491/Printed%20minutes%2022nd-Nov-2011%2010.00%20Environment%20Highways%20and%20Waste%20Policy%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20C.pdf?T=1


4 
 

was presented to each of these JTBs (a list of relevant dates is at Appendix A) and 
comments were invited. At the JTB meetings, assurances were given by KCC officers 
that a high profile PR/consultation exercise which would involve parish, town and 
district councils would take place in due course. At least one district council called the 
policy in for scrutiny following concerns raised at its JTB7. 
 
Further briefings of JTBs were arranged to take place prior to implementation in each 
district, in order that members were fully appraised of the detailed proposals for their 
area and able to express any concerns. A summary of the responses received appears 
at Appendix B. The Kent Association of Local Council (KALC) was also briefed by the 
Director of Highways & Transportation, including at their AGM, and an article about the 
proposal for street lighting was distributed to over 300 parish councils.  
 
There is strong evidence of effective engagement with the emergency services prior to 
the implementation phase, and in particular with Kent Police; this included a meeting of 
the Cabinet Member and Director of Highways & Transportation with the Chief 
Constable. There is also evidence of engagement with community representatives in 
the form of the JTBs, and a series of KCC Member briefings in the spring of 2013, 
although attendance was limited in some cases. 
 
There is also clear evidence of a customer consultation process, and members of the 
public were encouraged to take part in this process through a range of media, including 
radio and press advertising. However, the nature of this consultation was a matter of 
significant discussion amongst officers within H&T and the Corporate Consultation 
Team. In particular, there were concerns expressed by the Consultation Team that the 
consultation process concentrated on the detailed timings of part-night lighting and the 
criteria for exceptions, rather than addressing the fundamental issue of whether or not 
the concepts of part-night lighting and some permanent disconnections had community 
support.  
 
The public consultation itself was limited to an online survey, with a facility to email 
more narrative responses to the project team.  This might be seen as a weakness, as a 
consideration of the target audience may have determined that other channels of 
consultation would be more appropriate for particular groups. There is no evidence to 
suggest that any process for identifying the target audience took place, nor for 
considering the most appropriate means of consultation. The consultation did not give 
any information concerning the significant financial outlay required by the 
implementation of the proposals. 
 
Officers directly engaged in the implementation of the project have expressed a view 
that they would have preferred the consultation to be more extensive, but felt 
constrained by the limitations of cost and time. One former Cabinet Member felt in 
hindsight we had done the “bare minimum”. 
 
There is, however, clear evidence of effective engagement with the emergency 
services in formulating the approach to implementation of the changes to street 
lighting, and engagement with Kent Police appears to have been particularly positive; 
this engagement continues as part of the process for reviewing the outcomes of the 
changes.  
 
Comparing the KCC approach to consultation with other authorities that have 
introduced similar such changes to street lighting, places us broadly “mid table” in 
terms of good practice (see Appendix C). However, what is evident is that some 
authorities can demonstrate greater clarity around how the consultation processes 

                                                           
7
 Dartford Joint Transportation Board Minutes- 10 June 2014 

Page 19

http://committeedmz.dartford.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=23530&txtonly=1


5 
 

influenced decision making. This theme is explored in greater detail in the section on 
Governance below. 
 
The output of the consultation was such was that the majority (75%) of the 546 
respondents supported the proposals for timings of the part-night scheme, and the 
criteria for exempting certain areas. Some respondents felt that the proposals did not 
go far enough, whilst others expressed concerns about the impact upon crime and 
highway safety. However, the low number of respondents overall may suggest that 
restricting the process to a single channel (online questionnaire) limited the level of 
engagement. 
 
Unlike some other authorities, the details of the output of the public consultations are 
not easily accessible by residents, with only very brief details appearing on the public 
facing KCC website. 
 
 
Equalities Issues 
 
No equalities impact assessment activities are evident prior to the decision to approve 
the Strategy. Given that the decision was taken prior to the coming into force of the 
Equalities Act 2010 (which sets out clear requirements for consideration of the potential 
discrimination against persons with certain protected characteristics in the decision 
making process), it could be argued that it was reasonable to utilise the greater clarity 
provided by the Act in considering such issues prior to the implementation of the Policy. 
Interviews with colleagues from the Equalities, Legal Services and Consultation teams 
seem to concur with this view. 
 
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) was carried out in May 2012 (Appendix D(i)-
(ii)). However, this EqIA focusses retrospectively upon the adoption of the policy rather 
than its implementation in particular areas of Kent, and does not appear to be 
complete. For example, it is not signed by relevant senior managers, and it does not 
clearly set out the impacts upon the groups with protected characteristics identified as 
being potentially adversely affected by the implementation of the policy. It also does not 
attend to the equalities concerns raised by Kent Police with regard to certain faith 
groups. 
 
There has also been significant correspondence and debate amongst various divisions 
within the council concerning the quality of the EqIA, and whether steps in mitigation of 
the effect on persons with protected characteristics were sufficient. 
 
Legal advice provided to officers within the Consultation team in July 2012 highlighted 
inadequacies in the EqIA; it recommended that the EqIA process should be carried out 
in a more full and detailed manner, and that it should be put before the relevant 
Cabinet Member in order to inform the decision making process. Subsequent legal 
advice to the Consultation team in July 2013 noted that these recommended actions 
appeared not to have been carried out.  
 
The legal advice of July 2013 also noted that the proposed online consultation process 
might exclude those protected characteristic groups that had been identified as being 
most likely to be impacted by the proposals. It is understood that this legal advice was 
provided to the project delivery team as a template for action, but much of it was not 
reflected in the public consultation process that was ultimately commissioned. There is 
no evidence that this advice was shared with either elected Members or the Corporate 
Director. 
 
In mitigation of the approach to equalities adopted by the project delivery team, 
messages from the Equalities team appear not to have been as consistently critical of 

Page 20



6 
 

the processes adopted. The then Interim Corporate Lead on Equalities, whilst not 
providing any explicit endorsement, did give the impression through email 
correspondence of being relatively sanguine about the approaches to equalities 
adopted. However, there was a consistent message that issues of equalities should be 
clearly embedded within the consultation process, and there is no clear evidence that 
this was ultimately the case. 
 
 
Governance 
 
As previously mentioned, the original Strategy decision was taken by the Cabinet 
Member following consideration and recommendation by POSC. The implementation of 
the Policy was taken under officer delegation. 
 
One weakness of the officers acting under delegated authority at the time was the 
opaque nature of the records kept of the decision-making process. In particular, it is not 
possible to determine exactly how the outputs of the EqIA and consultation were 
considered in the decision-making process, and how they influenced the 
implementation of the scheme. This is not to say that such issues were not properly 
considered; it is simply impossible to demonstrate absolutely that they were fully 
considered as part of the delegated decision-making process.  
 
Changes to the recording of decisions now makes the reasoning of the decision-maker 
more explicit, and updated guidance on Key Decisions makes it more likely that 
decisions of this nature and scale will be Member-led in future. 

Of the other authorities contacted which have implemented similar schemes, many had 
similarly opaque arrangements surrounding their decision-making procedures, although 
some had more transparent Member-led decision making. In Buckinghamshire for 
example, feedback from the consultation was collated and reported to the Cabinet 
Member for Transportation who took a Key Decision in December 2007 to continue 
with a street lighting trial after the successful completion of a first phase. Following the 
trial, a Key Decision report was published and the final decision taken in August 2012. 

A number of un-minuted oral updates were provided to the relevant Cabinet Committee 
during the course of the implementation phase. Whilst elements of the consultation 
phase were alluded to in these updates, Members were not explicitly provided with 
detailed information concerning feedback from the community for their consideration 
and comment. 
 
Neither is it clear that Members or other consultees were provided with the detail of the 
police responses to the consultation processes, and in particular the fact that Kent 
Police expressed on more than one occasion that they could not support the scheme. 
They did, however, make clear that they understood the reasons for the Policy, and 
were prepared to cooperate in its implementation. It may have been the case that, had 
they been aware of such comments, some Members’ opinions of the project might 
have been less supportive. 
 
During the course of this review process, one former Cabinet Member also expressed 
concern that he had not been fully apprised of the initial capital outlay required by the 
scheme’s implementation, and knowledge of this might have swayed his view of the 
scheme. Details of the anticipated capital outlay appear in neither the POSC report of 
April 2010, nor the POSC report of November 2011. 
 
A report was put before Project Advisory Group (PAG) in November 2011, requesting 
approval to spend £2.9m of capital on the introduction of part-night lighting, and a 

Page 21



7 
 

further £2.3m on column removal for permanent switch offs. PAG is not a public 
meeting, nor is it a formal decision-making body of the Council, and no other evidence 
of such information being discussed openly in the Member domain has been found. 
Given that many new Members entered the Council in May 2013, and in the seeming 
absence of any detailed financial information relating to this scheme after the PAG 
meeting in 2011, it is possible that many Members were not fully aware of the financial 
implications of the implementation of the policy. 
 
Clarification concerning the nature of Key Decisions and the governance processes 
around them is such that it is now unlikely that a decision of this nature, with the 
significant issues of cost, reputation and customer impact, would be delegated to 
officer level. With the benefit of hindsight, the implementation phase of the Policy would 
have benefitted from the transparency and openness that characterise Member-led 
decision making. Properly minuted discussion of the issues, and recording of decisions, 
would have provided assurance to Members and the community alike that all relevant 
concerns were fully aired and taken into account. 
 
 
Impact of the Scheme 
 
The objectives of the Strategy, as reported to POSC in May 2010, were to reduce 
carbon consumption and to reduce the costs of street lighting. The further report to 
POSC in November 2011 also noted the need to gain community acceptance of the 
scheme and reduce negative perceptions.  
 
There is clear evidence that the scheme has been a success in terms of reducing 
carbon consumption, with an associated reduction in electricity costs. Indications are 
that full roll-out of the scheme has enabled savings in electricity costs of circa £1m per 
annum. 
 
This revenue saving needs to be offset against the capital cost of the scheme, which at 
circa £3.2m does necessitate a “payback” period of around four years. The substantial 
part of the capital outlay was in respect of changing the switching gear from simple light 
detecting devices, to smarter sensors that could calculate a switch-off period between 
00:00hrs and 05:30hrs each night. 
 
There is evidence to show that the project team worked closely with Kent Police to 
identify areas where reduced street lighting provision might negatively impact upon 
crime and/or highway safety. Reviews of the community safety impacts are planned to 
be carried out in cooperation with Kent Police in all districts. The first such review, very 
recently carried out in Dover district (Appendix E), appears to show that there is no 
significant direct causal link between the occurrence of accidents or crime and the 
street lighting scheme. Further reviews are due to be carried out over the coming 
months in the order of district implementation. 
 
There is no readily available data to enable a comparison of the impact of other similar 
schemes on crime and safety in other parts of the country. However, there is a 
significant body of work that suggests that improved street lighting helps to reduce 
crime where crime is prevalent. Kent Police alluded to such evidence in their 
consultation response (Appendix F (i)-(ii)). 
 
There have been circa 3,500 complaints about the scheme since implementation 
commenced. Of these, the project team advise that approximately half relate to 
faulty technology, i.e. switching taking place at inappropriate times of the day. The 
other 50% relate to concerns about the perceived impact of the scheme on crime, 
the fear of crime and general community safety. 
 

Page 22



8 
 

There is no evidence that any attempt at legal challenge in respect of the policy or its 
implementation has been made by any person or group. 
 
 
Reversal of Part-Night Lighting 
 
Since the implementation of the policy, a number of part-night lighting schemes have 
been “reversed” to all-night lighting. The vast majority of these have been reversed on 
the basis that the exclusion criteria (Appendix G) had been incorrectly applied at 
switch over.  Six reversals were enacted where the lamp column was not owned by 
KCC. One reversal was made at the request of Kent Police as a result of concerns 
about adverse impacts upon crime. A further nine reversals were made on the basis of 
Cabinet Member decisions by Mr Brazier in response to requests from members of the 
public (see Appendix H). 
 
The process for Cabinet Member reversals is not clear, nor is it formally documented. 
When consulted, the relevant Cabinet Member advised that his key consideration was 
the potential impact upon crime, but this appears to have largely based upon individual 
interpretation and discretion, rather than evaluation against objective criteria.  
 
However, it is understood that Kent Police were asked to comment on requests in most 
cases, and their comments were considered by the Cabinet Member when determining 
the outcome. There is only one case documented where Kent Police specifically 
requested a reversal on the basis of a negative impact of part-night lighting upon crime 
and disorder. There is no evidence that consideration of the cost impact of reversal has 
influenced any individual decisions. 
 
Another Cabinet Member highlighted the lack of a clear approach to authorising 
reversals as a key weakness in the scheme, and felt that the relevant Cabinet Member 
should have access to some form of protocol to guide reversal decisions. 
 
The exclusion criteria focus upon four key issues:  
 

1. the nature and layout of the highway 
2. the proximity to areas frequented by emergency vehicles 
3. the occurrence or risk of crime 
4. areas with concentrations of vulnerable people 

 
Discretionary Cabinet Member reversals to date have given particular emphasis to 
issues of criminality. In such cases, there is a mechanism to test impact on crime, as 
Kent Police have been very cooperative in terms of providing information about the 
incidence or potential incidence of crime. Thus, it should be relatively straightforward to 
create a clear framework for determining whether or not part-night lighting in a 
particular street has a negative impact on crime and disorder. 
 
The issue of vulnerability is more complex, partly because no clear definition of 
“vulnerable people” has been provided. The inference within the exclusion criteria is 
that the term refers to mainly elderly people, or those residing within a care home 
environment, but this is not explicit. There is no reference to any “vulnerable people” 
living on their own, or outside of a more regulated environment. Nor is there any 
specific reference to issues of disability, age, mental health, etc. 
 
Given that there is an acceptance that “vulnerability” should be taken into account, a 
clear definition of vulnerability should be developed. This definition can then inform 
guidance to be developed by officers and provided to the Cabinet Member, setting out 
with clarity the circumstances whereby a reversal should be favourably considered. 
However, it is advised that consideration of any reversal should include an assessment 

Page 23



9 
 

of the potential cost impact, balanced against the needs of the individual and 
community concerned. 
 
What is important is that Members are able to exert a proper influence upon the 
mechanism for authorising such reversals. It is recommended that officers within 
HT&W draft a clear protocol for determining reversals, and that these are presented to 
the Cabinet Committee for Environment & Transport for comment prior to a decision 
being taken by the Cabinet Member.  
 
 
Implications of LED Street Lighting 
 
The proposed introduction of LED street lighting from early 2016 holds out the prospect 
of a more flexible and responsive approach to illuminating the highway, including full-
night lighting, dimming, alternate lamp columns, etc.  
 
LED street lighting will enable a substantial reduction in electricity consumption, 
although ironically its likely proximity to the implementation of part-night lighting may 
mean that the required four year payback period is not achieved. 
 
It appears to be the case that some neighbourhoods in Kent have shown greater 
concern about part-night lighting than others. There is an opportunity, through a 
rigorous process of consultations and equalities impact assessments, to ensure that 
any implementation plan for LED lighting actively targets areas within the county where 
the greatest community concern about the current arrangements exist. This should be 
borne in mind as the project plan is developed. 
 
 
Summary 
 
In many ways the implementation of the Street Lighting Policy and Strategy can be 
considered a significant success. It has enabled reductions in electricity consumption 
and cost. In addition, given the scale of the project, which touches the majority of 
communities within Kent, the overall level of complaints is relatively small given the 
impact across the whole of Kent. There has not been any formal legal challenge to 
either the adoption of the Strategy or its implementation. 
 
However, it would be difficult to argue that the implementation of the Policy has entirely 
demonstrated best practice in governance, equalities or community engagement terms. 
The EqIA process should have been more detailed, and should have more clearly 
considered the ways in which groups with protected characteristics might have been 
impacted by the policy.  
 
The consultation process does have the feel of a “tick-box” exercise rather than a 
genuine and multi-channel approach to understanding both the extent to which 
communities supported the policy, and their concerns about its implementation. 
 
However, even if the equalities and consultation processes were exemplary, the 
absence of an open and transparent governance process during implementation would 
still leave questions concerning how these processes influence the decision making 
process. 
 
It is therefore strongly recommended that KCC learns the lessons from this project. 
Officers and Members must demonstrate a genuine commitment to the equalities 
agenda, and show best practice in a targeted and multi-channel consultation process. 
In particular, the process will be much stronger for having Member-led decision 

Page 24



10 
 

making, where considerations of the factors influencing decisions are discussed 
openly, properly recorded, and made available for public scrutiny.  
 
There are positive signs that these lesson have already been taken on board; 
proposals for the introduction of LED street lighting have been through a number of 
Member panels, including Cabinet Committee, Transformation Advisory Group and 
Commissioning Advisory Board prior to a formal decision being taken by the Cabinet 
Member. This allows for much greater confidence about the rigour, transparency and 
openness of the governance process. 
 
If the right processes of governance are rigorously applied, these will undoubtedly 
mitigate against the risk of having an otherwise effective and beneficial project being 
tarnished by the appearance of poor practice.  
 

  

Page 25



11 
 

Appendix A - Key JTB dates at Policy implementation phase 

 
Ashford – 12/3/13  

Canterbury – 19/2/13  

Dartford – 5/3/13  

Dover 28/2/13  

Gravesham – 20/3/13  

Maidstone 17/4/13  

Sevenoaks – 13/3/13  

Shepway – 18/3/13  

Swale – 11/3/13  

Thanet – 14/3/13  

T&M – 18/3/13  

Tunbridge Wells – 15/3/13  

  

Page 26



12 
 

Appendix B - Joint Transportation Boards- Summary of Comments 

 

Ashford 

 

375 A Common Sense Plan for Safe and Sensible Street Lighting 

 

Mr Burr introduced the report which provided details of KCC’s plan for safe and 

sensible street lighting and requested Members’ views on the proposals.  

……………………………….. 

 

In response to questions from Members, Mr Burr explained that the ongoing 

consultation was about the hours rather than the individual lights. They would be 

flexible on this where they could.  He accepted it was one of those projects that would 

divide opinion but he hoped the report made the rationale clear and dispelled many of 

the initial fears.  One of the main fears was a perception that crime may increase and 

that there would be more accidents, but there was no evidence of this in areas where 

the switch off had taken place.  Both solar and LED lighting had been examined but the 

pay back period was often astronomical not economic. As with all emerging 

technologies, the costs were coming down, so it may be a longer term solution, but at 

the moment it would not be a cost effective option. 

Resolved: 

That 

(i) the sites selected for the trial switching off of surplus lights be supported. 

(ii) the exclusion criteria used for part-night lighting initiative be supported. 

(iii) the hours of switch off for part-night lighting be supported. 

 

Canterbury   

 

They made points including the following: 

 

1.    The night time switch off should not create difficulties. 

2.    Lots of young people cross the Rheims way without using the underpass. Could 

the lighting here be changed to the night-time switch off instead of being switched off 

altogether? 

3.    Street lighting was a contentious issue in rural areas which suffer from light 

pollution from Canterbury. 

4.    Excess street lighting was wasting money. 

5.    In reference to the A291 at the junction with Canterbury Fields, could two lights be 

left on to light the junction? 

6.    At Rheims Way young people cross throughout the night, was there are way to 

reduce the lighting there without switching if off altogether overnight? 

 

The officer responded that the last suggestion would not be possible as all lights 

needed to be on or none, but the timings could be looked at. The other suggestions 

outlined above seemed acceptable. 

 

Dartford 

 

Page 27



13 
 

The Director for Kent Highways introduced the report which provided details of Kent 

County Council’s plan for safe and sensible street lighting and requested Members’ 

views on the proposals…………………………………………………………………. 

 

He advised that the County Council spent nearly £6million on energy for street lighting 

and that there was no legal requirement for them to provide lighting except where there 

was a link to road safety.  Kent had therefore adopted a policy to reduce street lighting 

in two phases………………………………….. 

 

The Board were reassured that any accidents reported for the last 19 years had been 

considered and no lighting would be removed where there had been a critical crash 

record. 

 

He advised that this phase would not start immediately, and it was expected that the 

switch off would start in June/July and welcomed Members views on the proposal. 

 

The Chairman advised that she had received concerns from the Parish and Town 

Councils that they had not been consulted on the proposals. 

 

It was clarified that this was a policy decision that had been made by Kent County 

Council and that local member comments were welcomed on the proposals.  It could 

be considered by the Dartford Association of Parish and Town Councils, however they 

would need to understand that their view on the policy was not being sought only the 

identified locations for the trial. 

 

As part of the discussion, Members raised the following questions: - 

 

• Does the presence of street lighting indicate that it is a 30mph zone? 

 

The Project Manager advised that the presence of street lighting in most residential 

streets indicated that the speed limit was 30mph.  Kent were currently seeking legal 

advice on its position. 

 

• When lighting is removed will unsightly stumps retain like those currently seen 

throughout the Borough? 

 

The District Manager advised that the street lighting column stumps that are currently 

found throughout the Borough are due to a different project that is currently being 

undertaking.  A recent audit of the lighting columns identified some columns that 

needed to be removed for safety reasons.  These would all be replaced by the end of 

March and the old columns removed once the power had been diverted to the new 

lighting. 

 

• What cost will there be to add devices to lighting columns so that they are 

turned off at different times? 

 

The Director for Kent Highways advised that the challenge was set that there was 

payback period of five years or less for the project. 

 

Page 28



14 
 

• The exclusion criteria listed (page 13/14) refers to areas identified by the Police 

as having an existing records of crime or having the potential for increased crime levels 

if the street lighting is changed.  Can any other organisations other than the Police 

comment? 

 

The Project Manager advised that this was a generic term and all organisations 

involved in the prevention of crime could comment as it would be a proactive trial.  

  

Members of the Board considered each location and resolved as follows: - 

 

RESOLVED: 

 

(1) That Kent County Council be asked to note the Board’s comments for each trial 

switch off location before determining on how to proceed: 

 

Bob Dunn Way – no objection to the trial switch off 

 

Bean Lane – no objection to the trial switch off 

 

Leyton Cross Road – concern was raised that due to the bend in the road this was 

considered locally as an accident black spot.  There were also numerous community 

facilities in the area and concern was raised how the switch off would affect their use.  

Members resolved that Part Night Lighting should be implemented and not the Trial 

Switch off 

 

Birchwood Road – no objection to the trial switch off 

 

Watling Street – no objection to the trial switch off, although Members requested that 

consideration be given to nightworkers at the hospital who were unable to park at the 

hospital. 

 

Hawley Road – no objection to the trial switch off 

 

Barn End Lane – no objection to the trial switch off.   

 

Old Bexley Lane – this was identified as a route used by children to reach local schools 

and Members did not support the trial switch off. Members resolved that Part Night 

Lighting should be implemented and not the Trial Switch off 

  

Shepherds Lane – this was identified as a route used by children to reach local schools 

and Members did not support the trial switch off. Members resolved that Part Night 

Lighting should be implemented and not the Trial Switch off. 

   

 

Cotton Lane – due to the issue with horses grazing illegally escaping onto the highway, 

Members requested that this be given consideration before confirming as a trial 

location. 

 

Page 29



15 
 

(2) That the exclusion criteria used for the part-night Lighting initiative be noted 

without amendment. 

 

(3) That the hours of 12.00 midnight to 5.30am for switch off for Part-night Lighting 

for Phase Two be noted without amendment 

 

Dover 

 

A COMMON SENSE PLAN FOR SAFE AND SENSIBLE STREET LIGHTING 

Mr Burr introduced the report which described proposals for the trial switching off of 

surplus lights and the switching off of other lights for part of the night. As a result of 

revised legal advice, the complete removal of lights had been discounted in favour of a 

12-month trial switch-off.  As a trial, lawyers were satisfied that the lighting columns 

without lighting did not represent an illegal highway obstruction.  Each trial site had 

been risk assessed and checked against crime and road traffic accident statistics.  

Kent Police had also been consulted. 

 

Several Members questioned the inclusion of Whitfield Hill which had been the site 

of several accidents and acted as a relief road for Jubilee Way. Although the accidents 

recorded were not related to lighting, Mr Hatcher undertook to review and consider 

part-night lighting at this location. It was also suggested that sites at Farthingloe Farm 

junction and the Discovery Park should not be included as the former was a potential 

development site and the latter was endeavouring to attract new businesses to the 

Enterprise Zone. Mr Hatcher suggested that lighting at Farthingloe could be switched 

on as and when development came forward, and part-night lighting could be 

considered at the Discovery Park. Members suggested that lights at the Betteshanger 

Business Park were unnecessary and should be switched off in the absence of any 

development. In respect of all sites, Mr Hatcher reassured Members that all sites 

underwent a safety audit and, if necessary, additional mitigation measures would be 

introduced, such as reflective signage, enhanced road markings and road studs. In 

response to concerns raised by Members, Mr Burr confirmed that accident records 

dating back to 1994 had been checked. Sites where a fatality had occurred due to 

visibility/lighting issues had been removed from the list. The programme of switch-offs 

would commence in the summer. Kent County Council (KCC) would work closely with 

Kent Police to monitor whether road accidents or crime levels were increasing as a 

result of the switch-offs. Immediate action would be taken if indications were that they 

were having a negative effect. 

 

RESOLVED: That the proposals outlined in the report be recommended for 

approval, subject to appropriate amendments being made as 

a result of the Board's comments on Whitfield Hill; the A256 

By-Pass at Eythorne; Farthingloe Farm junction, Folkestone 

Road and the A256 at Ramsgate Road (South) by the Discovery Park. 

 

Gravesham 

 

22. Proposed Street Lighting Changes 

The Director of Highways & Transportation, KCC presented the Board with the 

proposed 

Page 30



16 
 

street lighting changes plan: ‘Trial Switch off’ and ‘Part-Night’ lighting proposals as set 

out in 

the report. 

The Director of Highways & Transportation, KCC advised the Board that consultation 

has 

now opened on the website for the Part-Night scheme. 

Four areas have been identified for the trial switch off and Members considered each 

site 

and discussed the proposals. 

Resolved that Members considered each site for the trial switch off and suggested the 

following for each site: 

• Thames Way – No switch off; 

• Rochester Road – Proceed with proposal; 

• Crete Hall Road – Part Night; and 

• Gravesend Road, Shorne – Proceed with proposal. 

 

Maidstone 

 

RESOLVED to RECOMMEND to the COUNTY COUNCIL: 

 

1. That the sites selected for the trial switch off of surplus lights in the Borough of 

Maidstone, as set out in the Appendices to the report of the Head of Programmed 

Work, be endorsed with the exception of the B2246 Hermitage Lane where the five 

lights should be included in the programme for conversion to part-night lighting. 

2. That the exclusion criteria to be used for the part-night lighting initiative be 

endorsed. 

3. That the hours of switch off for part-night lighting should be 12.00 midnight to 

05.30 a.m. 

 

Sevenoaks 

 

Members discussed and made the following points: 

• Otford Road, Sevenoaks north of Sainsburys partnight lighting preferred 

• B258, top of Dartford Road, row of cottages partnight lighting preferred 

• Ash, removal of lighting columns that have never been switched on 

• Button Street approaching Swanley Village be left 

• Polehill / Orpington Bypass concern that pedestrian crossing lights do not work, a 

suggestion this be left for the moment 

 

Resolved: That subject to the comments made above the proposals contained 

within the report, be agreed. 

 

Shepway 

 

A common sense plan for safe and sensible street lighting 

Report JTB/12/18 provided details of the county council’s plan for safe and 

sensible street lighting and requested Members’ views on the proposals. 

 

RESOLVED: That  

Page 31



17 
 

 

(1) the proposals for the switching off of surplus street columns be supported with the 

following exceptions: 

 

· Alkham Valley Road, Hawkinge to be moved to the part night category 

· Dover Hill to be moved to the part night category apart from the stretch between the 

Valiant  sailor and Capel-le-Ferne which could be included in the trial 

· Sandgate Esplanade: delete from programme entirely 

· Ashford Road, Cheriton: proposal to be reviewed in the light of the 24 hour nature of 

access requirements including pedestrian and cycle options 

· Lydd Road/Romney Road/Hammonds corner: delete from programme entirely 

· Royal Military Avenue: retain two street columns adjacent to bus Stop 

 

(2) the exclusion criteria for the part night lighting initiative be supported; and 

(3) the hours for part night lighting should be 11 pm - 5.30 am GMT (ie 12 midnight to 

6.30 am BST) (officers to investigate technology to see whether variable switching 

would be possible). 

(Voting on recommendation 3 was by two options: 

11 pm to 5.30 am (GMT): For 6 

12 midnight to 5.30 am (GMT): For 2). 

 

Swale 

 

RECOMMENDED:  

(1) That the sites selected for the trial switch-off of surplus lights outlined in Appendix A 

to the report be agreed.  

(2) That the exclusion criteria used for the part-night lighting initiative be agreed.  

(3) That the hours of switch off for part-night Lighting be agreed but consider a 11pm to 

5am switch-off period. 

 

Thanet 

Some individual changes to the trial sites were noted. 
Recommendation 2 – Exclusion Criteria for part-night lighting 
It was AGREED that tourist areas should also be included as an exclusion criterion. 
Recommendation 3 – Hours of Switch off for part-night lighting 
It was AGREED that switch-off time should commence at 1.00 am in the summer. 
Mr Burr undertook to inform the Town and Parish Councils of the decisions reached by 
the Board. 
(Councillor Bayford left during this item, before any decisions were taken) 

 

T&M 

 

RESOLVED: That 

 

(1) the Trial Switch Off of Surplus Lights (Phase 1) at the sites identified in the report 

be amended to a Part-Night Lighting regime; 

 

(2) the Exclusion Criteria for the Part-Night Lighting be noted; and 

 

(3) the hours of Switch Off for the Part-Night Lighting be 12 midnight to 0530 hours. 

Page 32



18 
 

 

TW 

The Board was being asked for its views on the proposals and for members to identify 

to KCC any areas where local information would determine how best to proceed.  

 

Councillor Mackonochie asked if consultation at parish level had taken place. Mr Burr 

advised that full agreement at local level, especially for phase one would be difficult to 

achieve, however, the full method of consultation on this type of issue was to approach 

the County’s Joint Transportation Boards, which was taking place. Kent Association of 

Local Councils (KALC) was also being consulted with. Councillor Mackonochie urged 

KCC officers to seek the views of those parishes affected and he confirmed that he 

would forward on the report to the two parishes included in the trial switch-off.  

 

County Councillor Scholes asked KCC to be mindful of areas where dear frequently 

crossed roads. He also highlighted instances where accidents had taken place on 

certain stretches of road that had resulted in court cases. He felt the proposals needed 

a degree of publicity; he also asked what the deadline was for members feeding back 

on the recommendations. Mr Burr advised that there was no formal requirement for 

consultation on phase one of the proposals and there was no direct correlation 

between traffic accidents and street lighting, and that the causes were generally down 

to other factors. 

 

Mr Hatcher advised that decisions would not be made until all twelve JTBs in the 

County had been consulted with. He added that every street had been safety audited 

and that it was requirement of the programme that by the summer roads were no less 

safe than they were currently. Mr Burr added that a recommendation to KCC’s Cabinet 

was not required as the proposals were already included within Policy.  

 

Councillor Manning said that doing nothing was not an option and the proposals offered 

commons sense solutions with an environmental benefit. He was not sure what input 

Councillors could provide as the data had already been assessed but he was keen to 

see the programme rolled out to allow concerns over ‘black patches’ to be identified. 

He asked if officers would be able to react quickly to areas where there were safety 

issues and whether this reaction time would be hindered by bad weather. Mr Hatcher 

advised that KCC would react immediately where safety was an issue and that monthly 

meetings were held with Kent police which, going forward, could also be used as a 

platform for issues identified as a result of off-light time. 

The Chairman referred to Church road, which was within his ward and entirely suitable 

for this type of programme. He was happy that the recommendations covered all the 

requirements.  

 

RESOLVED  

 

To note the report and its recommendations and that Board members are to provide 

feedback to Kent County Council should they be aware of local information that may 

help officers proceed with the trial switch-off. 

  

Page 33



19 
 

Appendix C - Local Authority Consultation Approaches  

 
Street lighting review: 
Authorities that have implemented similar programmes to KCC 
 
The legal advice prepared by Erica Ffrench for the Consultation Team in July 2012, 
considered details of what other Local Authorities have done in relation to 
implementing similar programmes to that of KCC.  
 
The information below details Erica’s findings back in 2012 and updated from a web 
search in March 2015. 
 
Hertfordshire 
 
2012 findings: 
It consulted only with police, district councils and road safety experts before making 
final changes to its street lighting reduction policy. It provides an interactive online map 
showing a schedule of work. It provides a link to Police endorsement of the changes. It 
provides a link for service users to contact the local councillor if they have concerns 
about street lighting.  
 
2015 findings: 
There is a petition on Hertfordshire CC’s website (with 5500+ signatures) asking the 
council to turn the street lights back on. In addition, one from residents to keep them off 
which only has 17 signatures. There is a Frequently asked questions section which 
states that HCC ‘will not consider complaints’ about the street lighting coming being 
turned off and only take  comments from those who feel the exception criteria have 
been applied incorrectly.  
 
Buckinghamshire 
 
2012 findings: 
No consultation was carried out. Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) are provided 
online which answer some service user worries. 
 
2015 findings: 
This was the first switch off of its kind in the country. Publicised as a trial with ‘phase 1’ 
(300) lights being switched off in August 2007 and ‘phase 2’ (1400) lights being 
switched off by September 2008.  The trial finished in September 2011.  

 
Consultation - ‘Before Phase 1, an explanatory meeting was held at which all the 
emergency services, representatives from interest groups and the District Councils 
were invited to listen to what the aims and rationale for the trial were. This also 
provided an opportunity for BCC to respond to any early queries or concerns 
expressed. Reports for information and outlining the aims of the trial were also 
considered by all four Local Committees. 

Following comments received following implementation of Phase 1, it was clear that 
further detailed consultation was needed for the larger number of sites that formed 
Phase 2. Prior to any decisions being taken about sites to be included in the trial, 
consultation was undertaken to seek views from the local community or other road 
users. 

Due to the countywide nature of this trial and the large number of Phase 2 sites, 
information was disseminated in several ways, including: 

Page 34



20 
 

 A dedicated web page which included all relevant site and other information; 
 Individual letters to all Parish and Town Councils; 
 Individual e-mail to all County Councillors from the Cabinet Member; 
 Individual letter to all organisations on the County Council’s consultee list, 

including District Councils, emergency services etc; 
 Individual letter to all neighbouring highway authorities where the proposed 

sites adjoined or were close to the county boundary; 
 An article in the Autumn 2007 Buckinghamshire Times edition; 
 Reports for information at all four Local Committees.’ 

Feedback from the consultation was collated and reported to the Cabinet Member for 
Transportation who took a key decision in December 2007 to continue with Phase 2 of 
the trial after the successful completion of Phase 1. 

The trial finished in September 2011. Following the trial a Key Decision Report was 
published and the final decision taken in August 2012. Following the trial, some lights 
were switched back on and some were switched off permanently in line with the 
recommendations. Documents regarding consultation are publically available via the 
BCC website.   
 
Leicestershire 
 
2012 findings: 
A consultation on specific detailed proposals for part-night/ dimmed/ switched off 
lighting will be carried out with the relevant parish or town council where service users 
are welcome to comment on the project via their parish or town council. An online 
comments form is also provided to allow service users to give their views with this 
being used to inform ongoing work. No replies would be given. FAQs are also provided 
online.  
 
2015 findings: 
Website states changes are a gradual programme of work to take place over a 4 year 
period from April 2010. Website now states lights may be part-night lighting, dimmed or 
switched off and that risk assessments for every area will be carried out in areas where 
changes are proposed. It says these street lights will be identified using a set of criteria 
and in addition, through consultation with the parish or town council and the emergency 
services. 

Essex 

2012 findings: 

A consultation on part night lighting will be carried out. During the consultation period 
all service users will have the opportunity to make any requests for areas that should 
be excluded from the scheme. 

2015 findings: 

A consultation on part night lighting was carried out, however not with residents; 

‘The move to part night lighting has not been taken lightly, and views have been sought 
from District, Borough and Parish Councils as well as the Emergency Services when 
determining which lights should be switched to part night lighting...Residents were not 
directly consulted by Essex County Council; however, news coverage over the past few 
years notified the public that the part night lighting scheme would be introduced across 

Page 35



21 
 

Essex. Where residents have fed back views, these have been considered and 
responded to.’  

The part night lighting is now in place. Cabinet members made the decision following a 
trial period in ‘sample’ areas. There are a number of FAQs available on the website to 
address the main concerns. One of which suggests that Emergency Services views 
were sought and that their ‘comments were considered’ but does not suggest they 
were in support of the policy. A resident set up a petition, which ran for 10 months up to 
December 2014 to have the lights turned back on (feeling unsafe). There were 1500+ 
signatures received.  

Suffolk 

2012 findings: 

A consultation was carried out with parish councils and police prior to finalising the 
policy. Maps of the affected areas are available online. 

2015 findings: 

A list of FAQs was produced and made available to residents, however no formal 
consultation was undertaken. A media campaign was run before the switch off to 
ensure residents knew it was happening. There is a facility to feedback comments. The 
police can request that lights are switched back on immediately if necessary.  

Gloucestershire 

2012 findings: 

Carrying out evening public meetings in rural and urban areas so that service users 
can view proposed scheme and discuss any issues. 

2015 findings: 

A pilot scheme was run before a full ‘roll-out’ took place. No further information about 
the scheme available. However, they have just gone out to Tender for an LED contract 
which may affect current policy.  

Hampshire 

2012 findings: 

There is a dedicated PFI website on street lighting where comments from service users 
are welcomed. Day-long meetings/roadshows were held with service users in different 
districts regarding proposed changes, and the details of these are published on the 
website. 

2015 findings: 

The website doesn’t suggest they are turning lights off and are working towards a more 
energy efficient system where all lights will be dimmed (up to 50%)?. There is a set of 
FAQs on website.  

Nottinghamshire 

Page 36



22 
 

2012 findings: 

It has published proposals online and provided a period of consultation on each 
through parish and district councils before any final decision is made. 

2015 findings: 

Can’t find any information about the consultation in 2012 on the website. Originally a 
trial was undertaken; As of September 2013 (due to public demand and concern over 
safety/ vulnerable residents) streetlights in Nottinghamshire have been turned back on, 
with all plans to continue the ‘turnoff’ cancelled.  Communities can now request to have 
their lights on or off provided the majority of the area is in agreement. Investment into 
LED lighting has made this possible but they are not consulting with the public about 
the changes to the ‘new lights’. 

Devon 

2012 findings: 

It has published FAQs online. It canvassed stakeholders at a County Council Tough 
Choices roadshow regarding the proposals prior to making final decisions, and invites 
service users to contact their local county councilor to share their comments or 
concerns. 

2015 findings: 

Devon County Council ran a public consultation with the final report produced on May 

2014, alongside an Impact assessment (available to view online). The public 

consultation, which included Public Exhibitions and ran until 3 November 2013, was 

used to inform decisions about which other street lights to leave on all night, for 

example, on key walk home routes. A map showing which streets are included was 

provided. These proposals were displayed in various venues around Exeter, public 

meetings held, as well as people being able to comment online. Results cannot be 

found online although it states they will be shared. 

‘FAQs and links to contact your councillor are still available online, alongside policy 
documents. Also, positive feedback form residents are displayed’. 

Oxfordshire 

2012 findings: 

It had intended to introduce part night lighting but in September 2011 decided not to 
giving the reason of energy companies decreasing charges for fuel. They considered 
that this meant they wouldn’t make any savings financial savings by implementing the 
policy. 

2015 findings: 

Currently they do switch of some street lights at night in residential areas, this has been 
done ‘where safe to do so, with Parish Council Approval’. However no additional 
information about this appears to be available.  

  

Page 37

https://docs.google.com/uc?export=download&id=0B7wvQkhDiVebc3hYQXM4ZGJqd2s
http://new.devon.gov.uk/streetlighting/part-night-lighting/partnightlighting-exeter/exeter-part-night-lighting-public-engagement/


23 
 

Appendix D (i) - Street Lighting Policy EqIA- Initial draft with comments 

 
 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 
Directorate: 
Enterprise and Environment. 
 
Name of policy, procedure, project or service: 
Street Lighting Policy agreed by POSC May 2010. 
Project Name: Common Sense Management of Street Lighting Energy   
 
What is being assessed? 
The way the County Council can reduce Street Lighting energy costs. 
The project is intended to reduce energy usage by street lights and consequently 
reduce the County Council’s energy bill. By reducing the amount of energy consumed , 
the project will also help to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint  
 
The project will consider various options to achieve the above-mentioned targets, 
however, these will need to be balanced against the possible adverse effects of 
reducing the level of service. 
The options that have been put forward are those that are estimated to pay back the 
initial investment in the shortest period.  These are: 

 Switching off some lights and removing them where they are no longer 
considered necessary 

 Dimming of some lights on main roads between the hours of 10pm and 7am 
when traffic flows are low and a lower level of lighting will not affect road safety 

 Switching off some lights between midnight GMT and 5.30am GMT in 
residential areas in consultation with key stakeholders and local communities 
(this option is referred to as part-night lighting). 

 
What will be the affect on service users? 
 
Switching off:  
This will have little effect on service users since it will only be implemented where 
lighting is no longer considered necessary in rural areas and other locations where 
there are no houses fronting onto the roads.  Site-specific risk assessments and 
consultations will be carried out. 
 
Dimming:    
A level of lighting appropriate to reduced traffic flows at night will be adopted and there 
should be no adverse effect on service users.  The police and other key stakeholders  
will be involved in evaluating a dimming programme to establish an acceptable level of 
dimming. 
 
Part-night lighting:  
There is a common perception that implementing part-night lighting could lead to 
increases in road accidents, crime, antisocial behaviour and fear of crime.  
Implementation of part night lighting by other Local Authorities, however has shown this 
not to be the case. 
This risk will be minimised by applying exception criteria to exclude certain situations 
and by carrying out site-specific risk assessments and consulting the community on 
draft proposals. 

Page 38



24 
 

 
Responsible Owner/ Senior Officer 
Bedhad Haratber 
 
Date of Initial Screening 
1st May 2012 

 

Page 39



25 
 

Screening Grid 
 
 

Characteristic 

Could this policy, 
procedure, project or 

service affect this 
group less favourably 
than others in Kent?   

YES/NO 
If yes how? 

Assessment of 
potential impact 
HIGH/MEDIUM 

LOW/NONE 
UNKNOWN 

Provide details: 
a) Is internal action required? If yes what? 
 
b) Is further assessment required? If yes, why? 

Could this policy, 
procedure, project or 
service promote equal 
opportunities for this 
group? 
YES/NO - Explain how 
good practice can 
promote equal 
opportunities   

 
Positive 

 
Negative 

  

 
Age 

                      
                        Yes 

     
    Med 

    
    Low 

The exception criteria recognise that the proposals could have 
a disproportionate adverse impact on elderly or vulnerable 
people, particularly in emergency situations such as ambulance 
call-out.  For this reason all-night, lighting will be maintained in 
areas with sheltered housing and other residences 
accommodating vulnerable people.  All-night, lighting will also 
be maintained in areas with 24hr operational emergency 
services sites including hospitals. 

 

 
Disability 

                       
                        Yes 

    
   Med 

   
   Low 

The exception criteria recognise that the proposals could have 
a disproportionate adverse impact on those with a disability, 
particularly in emergency situations such as ambulance call-
out.  For this reason all-night lighting will be maintained in 
areas with sheltered housing and other residences 
accommodating vulnerable people.  All-night, lighting will also 
be maintained in areas with 24hr operational emergency 
services sites including hospitals. 

 

 
Gender  
 

                        
                       No 

    
   None 

  
   None 

 

 
 

 
Gender identity 

                        
                       No 

   
   None 

   
   None 

   

 
Race 

                        
                       No 

    
   None 

    
   None 

  

Religion or 
belief                                

                       No 
                      

   None    None   

P
age 40



26 
 

 

 
Sexual 
orientation 

                      
                       No 

   
   None 

   
  None 

  

 
Pregnancy and 
maternity 

                        
                       No 

       
   None             

 
  None 

Maternity:  All-night, lighting will be maintained in areas with 
24hr operational emergency services sites including hospitals. 

 

 
Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnerships 

 
                       No 

 
   None 

 
  None 

  

P
age 41



27 
 

Part 1: INITIAL SCREENING  
 
 
Context 
Explain how this policy, procedure, project or service relates to a wider 
strategy  
 
 
 
 
 
Aims and Objectives 
Provide a summary of what the policy, procedure, project or service is 
trying to achieve and how it will be achieved 
 
 
 
 
 
Beneficiaries 
Set out who the intended beneficiaries? 
 
 
 
 
 
Consultation and data 
Please record any data/research and/or consultation you have carried 
out to inform your screening   
 
 
 
 
 
Potential Impact 
Provide a summary of the results from your initial screening, 
highlighting where there is any potential positive or adverse impact. If 
there is no impact on any group or the impact is unknown please state 
that here.  
 
 
 
 
Adverse Impact: 
 
 
 
 
Positive Impact: 
 

Page 42



28 
 

 
JUDGEMENT 
 
 
Option 1 – Screening Sufficient                     YES/NO 
 
Following this initial screening our judgement is that no further action is 
required.  
 
Justification:  
 
 
Option 2 – Internal Action Required              YES/NO 
 
There is potential for adverse impact on particular groups and we have 
found scope to improve the proposal 
 
(Complete the Action Plan at the end of this document) 
 
 
 
Option 3 – Full Impact Assessment               YES/NO 
 
A full inpact assessment will need to be undertaken if: 

 the policy, strategy or service is judged to be major because of high 
cost, or potential to affect a large number of residents of Kent  

 
OR 

  

 is identified as having a potential impact on any of the listed groups/ 
individuals with particular characteristics. 

 
OR 
 

 or the potential impacts of a policy, procedure, project or service on a 
particular group are unknown.  

 
 
 
Equality and Diversity Team Comments  
The Equality and Diversity Team to make any comments following their 
review. 
 
 
Sign Off 
 
I have noted the content of the equality impact assessment and agree the 
actions to mitigate the adverse impact(s) that have been identified. 
 
Senior Officer  

Page 43



29 
 

 
Signed:      Name:  
 
Job Title:                Date: 
 
 
DMT Member 
 
Signed:      Name:  
 
Job Title:                Date: 
 
  
 
Part 2: FULL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
Name 
Of the policy, procedure, project or service 

Street Lighting Policy agreed by POSC May 2010. 
Project Name: Common Sense Management of Street Lighting Energy   
Responsible Owner/ Senior Officer: 

Bedhad Haratber 
 
Date of Full Equality Impact Assessment: 

1st May 2012 
 
Scope of the Assessment 
Set out what the assessment is going to focus on, as directed by the 
findings from your initial screening 
 

Process and criteria Essential? 
Barriers identified and 

groups affected 

Communicate the positive 
outcomes of trials in other 
authorities initially, then 
add positive experience 
from sites in Kent as 
project rolls out. 
Seek support from police 
in monitoring and 
communicating outcomes 
 

Yes Fear of crime may 
increase in elderly or 
women. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



30 
 

Information and Data 
State what information/data/research you have used to help you carry 
out your assessment 
 

The project will be reducing the level of lighting throughout the county and this may 
lead to more vulnerable groups of people (such as the elderly) feeling more fearful of 
crime.  However the evidence from other areas shows that these fears are ill-
founded.  Essex County Council recently finished a part-night lighting pilot involving 
about 6000 lights, which have been switched off from midnight to 5.30 am since 
April 2007.  During this period, crime in the area has actually dropped slightly and 
traffic accidents have not increased.  Fear of crime was measured by asking citizens if 
they felt safe after dark.  The percentage of people who felt safe after dark in the 
pilot areas dropped after the part-night lighting was introduced (it dropped overall in 
Essex as well). However, it did recover a year after the pilot had been in place to a 
higher level than its starting point before the pilot started.   
  
A similar story has emerged from a trial in Gloucestershire where lights in 3 parishes 
were successfully switched off between midnight to 5.30 am, and this approach is 
now being rolled out with the conversion of 7000 lights.  
 
Monitoring of all sites in which lighting levels have been reduced will be carried out 
in conjunction with the emergency services, and lighting will be reinstated should 
this be necessary.  The switch-off of lighting will between midnight and 05.30 am 
when most people are indoors or in bed.  As an additional measure, street lighting in 
areas of sheltered housing with elderly residents will remain on all night to give 
these residents a feeling of security.  
 
It is hoped that positive evidence from the trials in Essex and Gloucestershire can be 
added to, by evidence from the sites in Leicestershire as the measures are rolled out.  
This will contribute to alleviating the increased fear of crime that some people may 
experience. 
 
There may be slight adverse impact on disabled users (particularly partially sighted 
people) being able to able to access their properties by walking or mobility scooter in 
darkness.  However, this is considered to be very unlikely due to the current levels 
lighting being retained up to midnight.  
 
The project will deliver significant benefits to the wider community in terms of 
reducing costs to taxpayers, reducing carbon emissions and reducing light pollution.  
These benefits outweigh the increase in fear of crime of some groups, which on the 
evidence available is unfounded, and is expected to reduce with time as the 
measures are shown to have no adverse impacts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



31 
 

 
Involvement and Engagement 
Provide details of all the involvement and engagement activity you have 
undertaken in carrying out this assessment and summarise the main 
findings 

A communications strategy has been prepared aimed at achieving good two-way 
communications with the public, their democratic representatives, community 
groups and other stakeholders.  As part of this plan feedback is encouraged both on 
the project in general and on specific draft proposals that will be published.  The 
exception criteria, used as a basis for decision making, have been designed to 
minimise any disproportionate impact on protected groups.  Final proposals will be 
determined by the project team after consideration of comments received during 
consultation and are confirmed by Cabinet. 
                                                                                                                         
Judgement 
Set out below the implications you have found from your assessment for 
the relevant diversity groups. If any negative impacts can be justified 
please clearly explain why.  
 

We have carefully considered and applied the exception criteria as part of the site-
specific risk assessments. 
The exception criteria are:  
• On some main traffic routes.  
• In town centres.  
• Locations with a significant night-time traffic record between midnight and 
05.30am.  
• Areas identified by the Police as having an above average record of crime.  
• Areas provided with CCTV local authority or Police surveillance equipment.  
• Areas with sheltered housing and other residences accommodating vulnerable 
people.  
• Areas with a 24hr operational emergency services site including hospitals and 
nursing homes.  
• Formal pedestrian crossings, subways and enclosed footpaths and alleyways where 
one end links to a road that is lit all night.  
• Where road safety measures are on place in the highway, such as roundabouts, 
central carriageways islands, chicanes, speed humps, etc.  
 
The above will ensure that the main concerns regarding part night lighting are 
addressed.  
We will carry out consultations on draft proposals with local community groups and 
consider comments received before finalising proposals. 
 
 
Action Plan 
Provide details of how you are going to deal with the issues raised in 
judgement above and complete the Action plan at the end of this 
document 
 

Page 46



32 
 

We will carry out consultations on draft proposals with local community groups and 
consider comments received before finalising proposals. 
 
 
Monitoring and Review 
Provide details of how you intend to monitor and review progress 
against the above actions 
 

We will monitor impacts following implementation of energy saving measures and 
carry out post-implementation review after, six months. 
We will be prepared to modify or fine-tune the measures taken to mitigate adverse 
impacts. 
 
 
Equality and Diversity Team Comments  
The Equality and Diversity Team to make any comments following their 
review. 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign Off 
 
I have noted the content of the equality impact assessment and agree the 
actions to mitigate the adverse impact(s) that have been identified. 
 
Senior Officer  
 
Signed:      Name:  
 
Job Title:                Date: 
 
 
DMT Member 
 
Signed:      Name:  
 
Job Title:                Date: 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan               
 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues identified Action to be 
taken 

Expected 
outcomes 

Owner Timescale Cost 
implications 

 
 
All 

Ensure that fear of 
crime does not increase 
as a result of the 
project 

Communicate the 
positive outcomes 
regarding crime in other 
counties initially. 
Seek support from 
police in monitoring and 
communicating 
outcomes 

 

Fear of crime in most 
vulnerable groups 
does not increase in 
future 

   

 
All 
 

Ensure that relevant 
equality data & info is 
available to support the 
decision making 
process 

 

Carry out detailed 
analysis of future 
customer satisfaction 
surveys/research 

To ensure that current 
level of information is 
fully understood and 
any perceived 
inequalities are 
addressed 

   

 

P
age 48



Appendix D (ii)- Street Lighting EqIA- Final  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

 
 

 
 

Page 50



 

P
age 51



 

 
 

 
 

P
age 52



 

Page 53



 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 54



 

 
 

 
 

Page 55



 

 
 

 
 

Page 56



 

 
 

 

Page 57



 

P
age 58



Appendix E- Street Lighting Strategy Review- Dover District Council  

 
 
Safe and Sensible Street Lighting Project - Review of Trial Switch-Off – Dover District 

Date of Review: January 2015 

 

Sites originally proposed for inclusion in the trial switch-off but subsequently withdrawn: 

East Kent Access Location B 

East Kent Access Location C 

A256 By-Pass – Right Turn Lane Venson 

A256 By-Pass – Right Turn Lane Tilmanstone 

A256 By-Pass – Right Turn Lane Eythorne 

 

Sites originally proposed for inclusion in the trial switch-off but subsequently modified to part-night lighting: 

East Kent Access  Location A – Sandwich by-pass (22 lights) 

East Kent Access Location D – Monks Way (23 lights) 

East Kent Access Location E – Ramsgate Road (56 lights) 

East Kent Access South – Ramsgate Road (6 lights) 

P
age 59



 

 
 

Site location Whitfield Hill Remarks 

No. of lights switched 
off 

31 
- 

No. of lights converted 
to part night 

0 
- 

Lights switched off/ 
converted (DATE) 

22/08/2013 
- 

Police: crime and anti-
social behaviour issues  
Period: August 2013 - 
December 2014 
 

19/12/13 - Theft from Motor Vehicle (Lorry in Layby) 
03.00. 

- 

Police remarks Lack of street lighting could have contributed to the 
crimes but this has not been highlighted as a major 
contributory factor. 
   
The theft from M/V on Whitfield Hill was against a lorry in 
the layby overnight, the theft in Ash was against 
unsecure flats which were under construction near the 
junction. 

Trial switch off has not had an adverse impact. 

Crashes SLIGHT - 23.00 DARK. WET. Single vehicle lost control. 
SLIGHT - 16.40 LIGHT. DRY. V1 hit rear of V2. 

Not lighting related. 

Traffic Schemes 
remarks 

This section of road historically has had a poor safety 
record with emergency run-off lanes for larger vehicles 
going downhill.  
 
Permanent switch-off should be approached with extreme 
caution and maybe part-time lighting would be a better 
option. 

Comments noted: this was considered prior to the 
switch-off. 
 
The trial has not shown that this is a hazardous site. 

P
age 60



 

 
 

Enquiries received 
following 
implementation (site 
specific) 

2/9/13 Reporter enquiring about trial in response to local 
resident concerned about highway safety. 
 
9/9/13 Resident.  Supportive but concerned about 
visibility of escape lane. 
 
9/9/13 Resident concerned about safety of pedestrians 
using footway, feels lights should be on until at least 11 
pm. 
 
9/9/13 Resident concerned about busy road and lack of 
lighting, would be satisfied with part-night lighting. 
 
Other representations made at this time by local 
Members. 
 
10/9/13 Resident concerned about visibility of verge, 
sharp bend and escape lane.  Red reflectors distracting. 
 
11/9/13 Resident concerned that lights are not working 
and that area near escape lane is dangerous.  Noted 
pedestrians using torches. 
 
13/9/13 District Councillor on behalf of several concerned 
residents who had understood lights would be off 
between midnight and 5.30 am. 
 
1/10/13 Resident and child had to use footway at 11:30 
pm following car breakdown; fell and sprained ankle due 
to uneven surface and lack of lighting., also concerned by 
volume and speed of traffic. 
 
11/10/13 Resident who regularly drives this road 

Concentration of enquiries in the early months, but 
since then far fewer enquiries have been received, 
indicating perhaps that residents are largely accepting 
of the change. 

P
age 61



 

 
 

commenting that the lack of light was difficult at first but 
that the reflective strips help, and they now find the lack 
of light manageable. 
 
23/12/13 Residents concerned that the trial switch-off has 
not taken into consideration the number of vehicles and 
pedestrians using Whitfield Hill or its history of crashes 
and suggesting the lights should be switched back on for 
safety reasons. 
 
23/1/14 Resident perplexed that lights on Whitfield Hill 
have been switched off when some nearby are on day 
and night - advised the latter are Dover DC lights 
awaiting repair. 
 
22/4/14 Resident enquiring about the trial switch-off. 
 
17/11/14 Resident reporting lights not working - advised 
of trial switch-off, but feels it is dangerous. 
 
6/1/15 Resident who cycles along Whitfield Hill regularly 
concerned about safety. 
 
9/1/15 Resident enquiring about the trial switch-off. 

Street Lighting Structural assessment: 3 nr. columns scheduled for re-
testing/possible replacement by 2016;  28 nr. in 
acceptable condition, scheduled for re-testing in 2019. 
 

The majority of columns are in good condition. 

Highway Operations No issues raised. - 

Developments No issues raised. - 

P
age 62



 

 
 

Other relevant issues None.  - 

Conclusion The trial switch-off has had an adverse effect  The trial switch-off has not had an adverse 
effect  

Points to be taken into 
consideration 

Severity of adverse effects 
Political sensitivity 

Potential developments/improvements 
Condition of columns 
Do the part-night exclusion criteria apply? 

Remarks  This road is a major road and would have been 
excluded from the part-night conversions.  It has very 
few conflict areas within the area of switch-off, which 
might suggest the lights are suitable for removal.  
However, given the concerns expressed by the traffic 
engineer and by local residents, and the fact that the 
columns are not due for imminent replacement, my 
recommendation would be to continue the trial with a 
view to replacing the lights with LED in due course. 

Recommendation Switch back on 
immediately 

 
 

Continue trial – 
replace with LED in 
due course 

 Continue trial – 
replace with LED 
in due course 

 
Remove columns  

 

  

P
age 63



 

 
 

Site location A257 Ash By-Pass - Sandwich Road Remarks 

No. of lights switched 
off 

28 
- 

No. of lights converted 
to part night 

0 
- 

Lights switched off/ 
converted (DATE) 

23/08/2013 
- 

Police: crime and anti-
social behaviour issues  
Period: August 2013 - 
December 2014 
 

18/1/14 - Theft from property 03.00. - 

Police remarks Lack of street lighting could have contributed to the 
crimes but this has not been highlighted as a major 
contributory factor. 

Noted. 

Crashes SLIGHT - 09.11 LIGHT.DRY. V2 pulled out into path V1. No night time (dark) crashes. 

Traffic Schemes 
remarks 

Lights have been retained at junctions along the A256 
and also at the A257/Guilton junction, so it is not clear 
why a different approach should have been taken at 
these junctions. 

Comments noted: junctions along the A256 were 
originally proposed for inclusion in the trial switch-off 
but were withdrawn in response to political sensitivities. 

Enquiries received 
following 
implementation (site 
specific) 

13/1/14 Resident concerned that bus no longer goes into 
Ash village but sets passengers down on by-pass where 
lights are switched off - advised to contact bus company. 

- 

Street Lighting Structural assessment: all columns in acceptable 
condition, scheduled for re-testing in 2019. 

- 

Highway Operations No issues raised. - 

P
age 64



 

 
 

Developments No issues raised. - 

Other relevant issues None.  - 

Conclusion The trial switch-off has had an adverse effect  The trial switch-off has not had an adverse 
effect  

Points to be taken into 
consideration 

Severity of adverse effects 
Political sensitivity 

Potential developments/improvements 
Condition of columns 
Do the part-night exclusion criteria apply? 

Remarks  This road is a major road and would have been 
excluded from the part-night conversions.  Given this, 
the fact that the junctions may be regarded as conflict 
areas, and the fact that the columns are not due for 
imminent replacement,  my recommendation would be 
to continue the trial with a view to replacing the lights 
with LED in due course. 

Recommendation Switch back on 
immediately 

 
 

Continue trial – 
replace with LED in 
due course 

 Continue trial – 
replace with LED 
in due course 

 
Remove columns  

 

 

  

P
age 65



 

 
 

Site location Betteshanger Road Remarks 

No. of lights switched 
off 

24 
- 

No. of lights converted 
to part night 

0 
- 

Lights switched off/ 
converted (DATE) 

22/08/2013 
- 

Police: crime and anti-
social behaviour issues  
Period: August 2013 - 
December 2014 
 

None reported. - 

Police remarks None. - 

Crashes None reported. - 

Traffic Schemes 
remarks 

Hadlow College are intending to move in to Betteshanger 
Business Park, so  It may be advisable to just retain 
temporary switch off, rather than permanent column 
removal. 

Comment noted. 

Enquiries received 
following 
implementation (site 
specific) 

None received. - 

Street Lighting Structural assessment: all columns in acceptable 
condition, scheduled for re-testing in 2019. 
 

- 

Highway Operations No issues raised. - 

P
age 66



 

 
 

Developments No issues raised. - 

Other relevant issues  None.  - 

Conclusion The trial switch-off has had an adverse effect  The trial switch-off has not had an adverse 
effect  

Points to be taken into 
consideration 

Severity of adverse effects 
Political sensitivity 

Potential developments/improvements 
Condition of columns 
Do the part-night exclusion criteria apply? 

Remarks  As a minor road, this road would not have been 
excluded from part-night lighting.  However, the arrival 
of Hadlow College will potentially increase the number 
of motor vehicle, cyclist and pedestrian movements in 
this area, and taking into account the fact that the 
columns are not due for imminent replacement, my 
recommendation would be to continue the trial with a 
view to replacing the lights with LED in due course. 

Recommendation Switch back on 
immediately 

 
 

Continue trial – 
replace with LED in 
due course 

 Continue trial – 
replace with LED 
in due course 

 
Remove columns  

 

 

  

P
age 67



 

 
 

Site location Folkestone Road, Farthingloe Remarks 

No. of lights switched 
off 

61 
- 

No. of lights converted 
to part night 

0 
- 

Lights switched off/ 
converted (DATE) 

23/08/2013 
- 

Police: crime and anti-
social behaviour issues  
Period: August 2013 - 
December 2014 
 

10/5/14 - Burglary from dwelling 00.00. 
11/3/14 - Burglary Other 21.00. 

- 

Police remarks Lack of street lighting could have contributed to the 
crimes but this has not been highlighted as a major 
contributory factor. 

Noted. 

Crashes SERIOUS 23.10. DARK. WET. Foreign vehicle assumed 
Dual Carriageway, drove on wrong side of road. 

Confirmation from police separately that absence of 
lighting not a contributory factor. 

Traffic Schemes 
remarks 

There is an on carriageway cycle lane within the 40mph 
limit. It is very possible that the Safety Audit for the 
original cycle scheme depended on the presence of 
street lighting, and so the removal of lighting would need 
a similar such sign-off from an accredited safety audit 
assessment team. 

Comments noted: of the lights included in the trial, 6 nr. 
are close to the start of or within the 40mph speed limit.  
The remainder of the road has no cycle lane, and 
continues beyond the extents of the trial as an unlit 
road. 

Enquiries received 
following 
implementation (site 
specific) 

27/8/13 Resident concerned that lack of lighting is a 
hazard to highway users. 
 
14/5/14 Police officer investigating crash (see above), 
requesting details of lighting in this area, which were 
provided.  
 
21/11/14 local business (farm) concerned about 

 

P
age 68



 

 
 

increasing levels of fly-tipping, would prefer lights to be 
on or part-night. 
19/12/14 MP on behalf of disabled resident whose car 
broke down in unlit area and who feels lack of lighting is 
dangerous and lights should be switched back on. 

Street Lighting Structural assessment: 58 nr. columns likely to need 
replacement in around 2 years;  3 nr. in acceptable 
condition, scheduled for re-testing in 2019. 
 
Highway Operations: no issues raised. 
 
Developments: no issues raised. 

The majority of these columns will need to be replaced 
in the near future, at a cost of around £1,500 per 
column, or £91,500 if all 61 columns were replaced.  
 
This would be reduced to a cost of around £1,000 per 
column, or £61,000 for all 61 columns - plus ongoing 
energy and maintenance savings - if the columns were 
removed and not replaced.  

Highway Operations No issues raised.  

Developments No issues raised.  

Other relevant issues  None.   

Conclusion The trial switch-off has had an adverse effect  The trial switch-off has not had an adverse 
effect  

Points to be taken into 
consideration 

Severity of adverse effects 
Political sensitivity 

Potential developments/improvements 
Condition of columns 
Do the part-night exclusion criteria apply? 

Remarks  This road is a major road and would have been 
excluded from the part-night conversions; however, 
there is no requirement to provide lighting on major 
roads, and the area immediately south-west of the trial 
site is of similar character and is unlit.   
 
Taking into account both the traffic engineer’s 
observations and the potential savings to be achieved 

P
age 69



 

 
 

by not replacing columns which are near the end of 
their life, my recommendation would be to  
(a) retain the 6 nr. columns within or at the entrance to 
the 40 mph speed limit, and  
(b) remove the remaining 55 nr. columns. 
This would achieve savings of around £27,500 plus 
ongoing energy and maintenance savings. 

Recommendation Switch back on 
immediately 

 
 

Continue trial – 
replace with LED in 
due course 

 Continue trial – 
replace with LED 
in due course 

 
Remove columns 

 

 

 

P
age 70



Appendix F (i)- Street Lighting Strategy Consultation Responses (Kent 
Police)-  September 2013 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



 

 
 

Appendix F (ii)- Street Lighting Strategy Consultation Responses (Kent 
Police)-  June 2014 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 73



Appendix G- Street Lighting Strategy Exclusion Criteria 

 

 

P
age 74



 

 
 

Appendix H - Street Lighting Reversal Requests (As approved by Cabinet Member, David Brazier) 

 
 
Site Name Location Reason for switch Date of order 

Abbey Drive Joydens Wood, Dartford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Abbey Way North Willesborough, Ashford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Albert Road Swanscombe & Greenhithe, Ashford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Albion Road Birchington Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Alma Street Passage Sheerness East, Swale Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Alton Avenue Kings Hill, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Anivil Terrace Joyce Green, Dartford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Barton Road Barton, Canterbury Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Beatrice Gardens Coldharbour, Gravesham Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Birch Road Wincheap, Canterbury Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Bradbourne Lane Ditton, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Brandon Road Newington, Thanet Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Braunstone Drive Allington, Maidstone Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Bridgeside Deal Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Brook Street Tonbridge, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Brooke Avenue Garlinge, Thanet Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Cavell Square Deal Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Charlock Close Allington, Maidstone Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Church Court Grove St Peters Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Clivenden Close Allington, Maidstone Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Clyde Street Sheerness, Swale Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Cobbetts Way Edenbridge S&W, Sevenoaks Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Collins Road Herne Bay Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

P
age 75



 

 
 

Coombfield Drive Bean & Darenth Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Cornwall Road Joyce Green, Dartford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Dark Hill Faversham, Swale Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Dean Road Sittingbourne Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Downsview Road Sevenoaks Kippington, Sevenoaks Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Eclipse Drive Sittingbourne, Swale Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Fulham Road Margate Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Great Brooms Road Southborough & High Brooms, Tunbridge Wells Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Green Lane Paddock Wood East Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Hereford Road Shepway South, Maidstone Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

James Street Sheerness, Swale Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

John Newington Close Little Burton Farm, Ashford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Kimberly Road Ramsgate Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Lambourne Drive Kings Hill, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Lydbrook Close Grove, Swale Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Marsh Street Dartford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Marsh Street North Dartford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Middletune Avenue Milton Regis, Sittingbourne Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Milbourne Grove Milton Regis, Sittingbourne Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Monastary Avenue Dover Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Mount Road Barton, Canterbury Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Nunnery Road Canterbury Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Orchard Avenue Aylesford, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Osprey Court Sittingbourne Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Oswald Road St. Radigunds, Dover Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Park Avenue Broadstairs Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Park Drive Woodstock, Swale Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

P
age 76



 

 
 

Pilgrims Way Barton, Canterbury Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Prospect Road Birchington Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Quarry Road Tunbridge Wells Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Quetta Road Ramsgate Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Riversdale Road Ramsgate Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Rockstone Way Ramsgate Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Rolfe Lane New Romney Town, Shepway Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Shaftesbury Avenue Folkestone Chertiton, Shepway Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Sir John Moore Avenue Hythe Central, Shepway Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Sonora Way Sittingbourne Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Springwood Drive Godinton, Ashford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Sun Road Swanscombe, Dartford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Sweetbriar Lane Eythorne & Shepherdswell Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Taylor Row Wilmington, Dartford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Trevelyan Close Joyce Green, Dartford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Tudor Farm Close Weald East, Ashford Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Vine Lands/Copperfields Lydd, Shepway Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Westfield Road Birchington Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Weyburn Drive Ramsgate Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Willetts Hill Monkton Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Willow Farm Way Canterbury Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Windmill Road Sittingbourne  Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Wood Lane Bean & Darenth Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Woodbury Road Blue Bell Hill & Walderslade, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Exclusion Criteria)  

Castle Street Burham, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Non-KCC columns)  

Ferry Lane Burham, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Non-KCC columns)  

Knowle Road Burham, Eccles & Wouldham, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Non-KCC columns)  

P
age 77



 

 
 

Manley Boulevard Snodland West, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Non-KCC columns)  

Mill St/High St Snodland East, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Non-KCC columns)  

Portland Road Burham, Tonbridge & Malling Error (Non-KCC columns)  

Cecil Avenue Sheerness Cabinet Member decision 13/01/2015 

Charnock Swanley, Sevenoaks Cabinet Member decision 20/02/2015 

Cromwell Road Sheerness Cabinet Member decision 13/01/2015 

Granville Place Sheerness Cabinet Member decision 13/01/2015 

Harris Road Sheerness Cabinet Member decision 13/01/2015 

Mascalls Park Paddock Wood East Cabinet Member decision 14/01/2015 

Whiteway Road Queenborough Cabinet Member decision 13/01/2015, 14/01/2015 

Wisteria Gardens Swanley, Sevenoaks Cabinet Member decision 18/12/2014 

The Warren Gravesend, Gravesham Cabinet Member decision 05/12/2014 

Keary Road  Swanscombe, Dartford   

 

P
age 78



Document is Restricted

Page 79

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A4 Minutes of the meeting held on 4th of February 2015 (Crime & Disorder Committee)
	C1 Street Lighting Review
	Appendix A - Street Lighting Review terms of reference
	Appendix B - Review of the adoption and implementation of Street Lighting Policy and Strategy 2010
	SLR - Exempt appendices


